1997

Michael W. Hom v. Utah State Department of Public Safety, a government agency; Cherie Ertel; Douglas Bodrero; A. Roland Squire; Arthur Hudachko, Bart Blackstock; John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure as an appeal of right. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 78-36-11 (1953), *as amended*, and 78-2a-3 (1953), *as amended*.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT RULED THAT MR. HOM'S EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP WAS STATUTORY RATHER THAN CONTRACTUAL.

The trial court dismissed Mr. Hom's breach of contract claim, ruling that there was no express, written contract governing the employment relationship between the parties. R.1126. The trial court ruled further that the nature of the employment relationship between the parties was statutory rather than contractual. R. 1126. The trial court also held that there was no implied contractual relationship between the parties. R.1126. Whether a public employee's relationship with his employer is contractual or statutory is a question of law. Further, this appears to be a question of first impression in Utah. Because this issue presents a question of law, it should be reviewed for correctness. *West v. Thompson Newspapers*, 835 P.2d 179, 182(Utah Ct. App. 1992); *Fashion Place Inv., Ltd. v. Salt Lake County*, 776 P.2d 941 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). This issue was raised and preserved at the trial court in Mr. Hom's Complaint, Amended Complaint and Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 1-17, 215-240, and 470-621 respectively. Further, this issue was explicitly raised in

endants' Motion to Amend Answers to Complaint, Memorandum in support of Motion for Summary Judgment, and Reply Memorandum in support of Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 307-315, 316-343; 344-0, and 632-651 respectively. Finally, this issue was expressly reserved when it was ruled on by the trial court. R. 1126.

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT HELD THAT THE DISCOVERY RULE DID NOT APPLY TO MR. HOM'S HANDICAP DISCRIMINATION CLAIM.

The trial court also dismissed Mr. Hom's perceived handicap discrimination claim (R.1126-1127) on the ground that Mr. Hom's claim is barred by the applicable four year statute of limitation because (1) there was no relation back, (2) the original complaint was not filed within four years from the time that the § 504 claim accrued, and (3) the discovery rule is not appropriate under the circumstances of this case. R. 1127. These issues present questions of law which this Court should review for correctness with no deference to the legal conclusions of the trial court. *Selvage v. J.J. Johnson & Associates*, 910 P.2d 1252, 1257 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Mr. Hom responded to and raised the issues of "relation back" and discovery rule and its application in his Memorandum in Opposition to defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 470-621. Moreover, the trial court expressly ruled on this issue thereby preserving it. R. 1126-1127.

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT FOUND THAT MR. HOM MAY BE COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING A CLAIM FOR HANDICAP DISCRIMINATION BECAUSE IT DID NOT "RELATE BACK" TO THE DATE OF FILING OF THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT.

The trial court found that Mr. Hom's perceived handicap discrimination claim did not relate back because he was collaterally estopped from raising this issue. R. 1127. While the order signed

by the trial court does not state collateral estoppel as the grounds for finding that the claim did not relate back, the argument initiated by the Defendants and responded to by Mr. Hom was based on the doctrine of collateral estoppel. R. 359, 488-489, 658. Whether or not the issue was precluded presents a question of law which this Court should review for correctness. *Timm v. Dewsnup*, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah 1993). This issue was raised and argued by the parties in their respective briefs. R. 344-440, 470-621. The issue is preserved as it was ruled upon by the trial court. R. 1127.

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT RULED THAT THERE WAS NO COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING INHERENT IN THE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

The trial court held that Mr. Hom's claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing was dismissed because there was no contract governing the employment relationship between the parties. R. 1127. Whether or not a contract and therefore an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing exists is a question of law. This Court should review the trial court's factual finding for correctness with no deference. *Republic Group, Inc. v. Won-Door Corp.*, 883 P.2d 285, 289 (Utah Ct. App. 1994); *Dubois v. Grand Central*, 872 P.2d 1073, 1078-79 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). This issue was raised and preserved in Mr. Hom's Complaint, Amended Complaint and Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 1-17, 215-240, and 470-621 respectively. Also, the trial court expressly ruled on this issue. R. 1127.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

29 U.S.C. § 704¹ Nondiscrimination under Federal grants and programs;
promulgation of rules and regulations (See Addendum)

UTAH CODE ANN. § 67-19-18 Dismissals and demotions - Grounds -
Disciplinary action - Procedure - Reductions in force. (See Addendum)

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-23 (1953), *as amended*. Within six years - Mesne
profits of real property - Instrument in writing. (See Addendum)

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-25 (1953), *as amended*. Within four years. (See
Addendum)

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-26 (1953), *as amended*. Within three years. (See
Addendum)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Mr. Hom's lawsuit regards issues surrounding the termination of
his employment with the Utah State Department of Public Safety.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition by the District Court Below

Mr. Hom filed his original complaint in the Third Judicial
District Court on March 21, 1994. The Defendants filed a Motion to
Dismiss Complaint on or about July 19, 1994. Mr. Hom filed a response
to the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. On or about March 6, 1995, Mr.
Hom filed an Amended Complaint. The Defendant Utah Department of
Public Safety filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint on or about
March 15, 1995. The remaining Defendants filed their Answer to the
Amended Complaint on or about March 24, 1997. On or about March 24,
1997 the Defendant Department of Public Safety withdrew its Motion to
Dismiss. The trial in this case was set to begin on February 25,

¹ As it existed at the times relevant to Mr. Hom's termination from his employment at
the Department.

1997. On or about December 6, 1996, the Defendants filed a motion seeking leave to amend their answers to Mr. Hom's Amended Complaint. The Defendants' motion seeking leave to amend was granted and the Defendants filed their Amended Answers on or about December 30, 1996.

On or about December 6, 1996, the Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Mr. Hom filed his memorandum in opposition on or about December 31, 1996. The Defendants filed their memorandum in reply on or about January 13, 1997. On February 10, 1997, Mr. Hom filed a motion seeking leave of the Court to amend his memorandum in response on the basis that a Notice of Claim had been properly filed. The Court did not expressly rule on Mr. Hom's motion. However, at the oral argument on the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court ruled that there was no written notice of claim filed. The Court granted the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on February 14, 1997, and the Court's order was subsequently entered on March 5, 1997. Mr. Hom timely filed his Notice of Appeal on April 3, 1997.

On May 6, 1997, the Defendants filed a Motion to Transfer Mr. Hom's appeal to the Utah Supreme Court. The Motion to Transfer was granted May 7, 1997. The Utah Supreme Court then poured the case back over to the Utah Court of Appeals on October 15, 1997.

It also important to note the events which occurred in Mr. Hom's companion case filed in the United States District Court for Utah. Mr. Hom filed his original verified complaint in the United States District Court on September 26, 1991. The Defendants in that case filed a motion to dismiss on or about November 11, 1991. The parties stipulated to a dismissal of part of Mr. Hom's complaint. Mr. Hom submitted his Amended Verified Complaint on or about December 31, 1992. The Defendants eventually filed an answer to Mr. Hom's amended

verified complaint on or about May 26, 1993. The parties then engaged in substantial discovery.

On or about August 1, 1994, the Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment. Mr. Hom responded on September 6, 1994. At the Defendants request, supplemental briefing on the due process issues involved in the lawsuit was done by both parties. On October 11, 1994, Mr. Hom moved the court for leave to amend his verified complaint. The Defendants filed a memorandum in opposition to Mr. Hom's motion to amend. On or about November 18, 1994, the Court indicated it would deny Mr. Hom's motion to amend his complaint. On December 1, 1994, the Court granted the Defendants' motion for summary judgment. On December 8, 1994, the Court signed the order denying Mr. Hom's motion to amend his complaint. Mr. Hom then timely filed a notice of appeal to the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals on December 20, 1994. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals rendered its decision in that matter on April 12, 1996. R. 411-416.

Statement of Relevant Facts

1. Mr. Hom's lawsuit is the result of his involuntary termination as a programmer/analyst from the Utah Department of Public Safety ("Department"). R. 363, 499, 518-19, 521.

2. Mr. Hom was an employee of the Department from May 20, 1985 through March 2, 1990 when he was finally terminated from his employment. R. 2, 518-19, 521.

3. The reasons enunciated for Mr. Hom's termination from the Department are (1) Mr. Hom was perceived to be a security threat, (2) Mr. Hom had committed perjury, and (3) Mr. Hom had been insubordinate. R. 492-93, 494-98.

4. Douglas Bodrero ("Bodrero") made the ultimate decision to

terminate Mr. Hom from his employment with the Department. However, Bodrero did not personally observe any misbehavior by Mr. Hom. R. 585-586.

5. On or about November 13, 1989, Brant Johnson, the Deputy Commissioner of Public Safety, sent a letter to Mr. Hom notifying him that Mr. Johnson intended to terminate his employment. This letter outlined the alleged reasons for Mr. Hom's termination as insubordination, malfeasance/non-feasance, perjury, and that Mr. Hom was a security risk. R. 492-93.

6. Mr. Johnson's decision to terminate Mr. Hom was based on the recommendation of A. Roland Squire ("Squire"), who was at that time the Director of Management Information Services. R. 430, 434-438, 494-98, 932-36.

7. When Mr. Hom began his employment with the Department, Arthur Hudachko ("Hudachko") was his immediate supervisor. R. 526-27, 964-65.

8. Prior to being hired by the Department, a complete and thorough background search and check was done on Mr. Hom. R. 520.

9. While employed with the Department, Mr. Hom received promotions. R. 2-3. Mr. Hom also received commendations for his efforts, dedication and perseverance as an invaluable employee of the Department. R. 542, 543, 544; 521-22, 523, 524, 524. Mr. Hom also received near perfect evaluations from Hudachko. However, Hudachko had also did at times counsel Mr. Hom to try and improve his political and people skills. R. 527.

10. One of Mr. Hom's job responsibilities was to be on call in the event that a programmer was needed to help solve any technical problem that may arise regarding the computer system for both the

Bureau of Criminal Investigation ("BCI") and the Driver's License Division of the Department. Mr. Hom was on uninterrupted call for these reasons for a period of four and one-half (4 $\frac{1}{2}$) years. R. 545.

11. In addition to being on call most of the time, Mr. Hom also served on a "Request for Proposal Committee" ("RFP committee") formed by the Department to select a vendor to provide computer software and/or hardware for the Driver's License Division. Mr. Hom was appointed as the technical subcommittee chairperson by Hudachko. R.499-502, 538.

12. Prior to being selected to perform on the RFP committee, Hudachko, Mr. Hom's supervisor at the time, had never given Mr. Hom any written discipline. R. 526-27.

13. At the time the RFP committee began to consider vendor bids for a new computer system, Bodrero was the Deputy Commissioner for the Department, and the RFP process was conducted pursuant to his guidance and supervision. R. 500.

14. Bart Blackstock ("Blackstock") of the Driver License Division of the Department was appointed to act as the chairperson of the RFP committee. Ertel, an employee of the Driver License Division, was appointed as the administrative subcommittee chairperson of the RFP committee. R. 500.

15. Mr. Hom and all other RFP committee members were aware of Utah law governing the bidding processes and procedures that must be utilized when seeking proposals such as those sought by the RFP committee in this instance. R. 500.

16. Mr. Hom's significant and regular work duties did not decrease after he was appointed to the RFP committee. As a result, Mr. Hom was faced with a huge increase in work. R. 528. Because Mr.

Hom had assumed additional work, he would sometimes work 20 hours or more a day trying to stay on top of his regular duties as well as his duties associated with the RFP committee. R. 507. This led to a "gentlemen's agreement" between Mr. Hom and Hudachko (Mr. Hom's supervisor at the time) whereby Mr. Hom would keep track of his overtime and Hudachko would make sure that Mr. Hom got his corresponding leave. R. 499-517; R. 529-530. This agreement, for informal resolution of compensatory time, led Mr. Hom to believe that he had an ally in Hudachko. R. 507-508.

17. Despite the demands of Mr. Hom's regular work duties, Mr. Hom continued to work diligently on the RFP committee. However, it was becoming obvious to Mr. Hom that the RFP process was a political quagmire. R. 506.

18. In an effort to recoup his significant unpaid compensatory time, Mr. Hom filed a grievance which resulted in him being awarded some 600 hours of compensatory time. By filing this grievance, Mr. Hom alienated Hudachko and others. The filing of a grievance was not the way that such things were done at the Department. R. 508, 529-531.

19. While serving on the RFP committee, Mr. Hom became aware of activities by certain committee members which were contrary to the mandates of Utah law, specifically the Utah Procurement Code (UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 63-56-1 *et al.*). R. 499-517. Mr. Hom was familiar with the Utah Procurement Code. Other problems of which Mr. Hom was aware were orders given by Bodrero leading to a manipulation of the vendor selection process. Also, Blackstock had a personal relationship with one of the bidders. R. 499-517. Mr. Hom told Blackstock and Hudachko of his concerns over the legality of the process. In

addition, the Mr. Hom engaged in further investigation regarding the proposal of one bidder (C.A.C.I.) which he felt was deficient in reporting its technical qualifications. R. 499-517.

20. The RFP process consisted of three phases. The first phase consisted of solicitation of bids for a partial solution. Following this, the RFP committee modified the "request for proposal" and solicited bids for a total solution. During this second phase, approximately 10 vendors remained on the vendor pool. R. 500-01; 529.

21. After the second phase, Ertel and others acted in an arbitrary manner in creating a false standard by which to eliminate some of the vendors. Mr. Hom strenuously objected to the standard of elimination chosen. Mr. Hom believed that the RFP committee could **not lawfully, under the Utah Procurement Code, eliminate vendors** merely because they had not disclosed their profit margins, especially when such a requirement was not requested in the original request for proposals. R. 501.

22. Despite Mr. Hom's strong objections and concerns regarding this method of vendor elimination, all of which were voiced in the RFP committee meetings, the RFP committee returned early from lunch and voted to use the false standard as a method for eliminating some of the vendors. Mr. Hom was not told to return early from lunch for such a vote. In fact, the vote purposely was taken in Mr. Hom's absence. R. 501-02. The vote cut the pool of vendor candidates from ten to six. Of the remaining six vendors, C.A.C.I. was still a candidate as were IBM and Digital, both of whom proposed on-site systems. R. 502.

23. The vendor, C.A.C.I., had submitted a bid with its profit

margins disclosed. Also, C.A.C.I had submitted a very detailed bid despite not having been in attendance at a meeting of the bidders where the details were discussed. R. 502, 505.

24. Mr. Hom, as he was required to do as the technical subcommittee chairperson, further investigated the proposal of C.A.C.I. C.A.C.I. had failed to disclose a list of its technical users. Through this investigation, it was discovered that the state of Wyoming was a technical user of the C.A.C.I. system. Mr. Hom told Blackstock of the problems which Wyoming had with the C.A.C.I. system. Blackstock became angry at Mr. Hom for doing the investigation of C.A.C.I.'s bid. Ertel was also angry about Mr. Hom's in-depth investigation. R. 502.

25. Mr. Hom told Blackstock and Hudachko that he was concerned with the legality of the RFP process. R. 505-06; 539-541. Despite the concerns about the legality and possible liability surrounding the RFP process expressed by Mr. Hom, Bodrero claims that he was not aware, until after Mr. Hom had filed his lawsuit, that Mr. Hom had made allegations of illegality in the RFP process. R. 593.

26. As a result of mounting tensions in the RFP Committee, Mr. Hom tendered a resignation to Blackstock, the Director of the Driver's License Division and the RFP Committee Chairperson. Blackstock refused Mr. Hom's resignation. R. 499-517.

27. Prior to serving on the RFP committee, Mr. Hom had a good working relationship with his co-workers. R. 552-506. However, due to his deteriorating relationship with the RFP committee members, Hudachko received several complaints about Mr. Hom from some of the RFP committee members. R. 527, 532-533, 534. Bodrero had also heard complaints about Mr. Hom from some members of the RFP committee. R.

582- 28. Mr. Hom maintains that these complaints tainted Bodrero's opinion about Mr. Hom. R. 504.

29. About this time, an internal affairs investigation was done on Mr. Hom. The internal affairs investigation was the result of complaints about Mr. Hom by Ertel. R. 508; 548-554.

30. While serving on the RFP committee, Mr. Hom learned that Bodrero, who was at the time a Deputy Commissioner of the Department of Public Safety, wanted a specific computer system. Bodrero wanted an on-site system. Bodrero lobbied the RFP committee during the procurement process for an on-site system. R. 500, 503, 591. Again, Mr. Hom perceived these lobbying efforts as illegal. R. 500, 503.

31. After this point, the vendor pool had decreased from ten vendors to six vendors. Bodrero asked Mr. Hom to do a one-on-one comparison and technical evaluation of two of the six vendors, IBM and Digital. R. 602. Mr. Hom again objected on the grounds of illegality under the Utah Procurement Code. R. 503. Despite his objections, Mr. Hom dutifully carried out Bodrero's request. R. 503. In fact, other vendors were also displeased and concerned with Bodrero's order for a one-on-one comparison and they voiced their concerns by filing grievances. R. 504.

32. Bodrero was displeased with Mr. Hom's objections to comparing only two of the vendors. Mr. Hom maintains that Bodrero was also displeased because of Mr. Hom's objections to Bodrero's lobbying efforts and the complaints received by Bodrero from some of the RFP committee members. R. 504.

33. Two vendors were ultimately selected for final consideration, IBM and Digital. A final report needed to be prepared. As part of his duties, Mr. Hom prepared the technical

section of the final report. In the final report, Mr. Hom noted that IBM did not have an approved security protocol and therefor was unacceptable. When Mr. Hom completed his section of the final report, he gave the report to Ertel and Jill Laws. Ertel and Laws made substantive changes to the report so that it stated that IBM did in fact have the appropriate security protocol. Mr. Hom again voiced his objections. R. 504, 505, 549-550. 34. When it came time for the final report to be presented to the decision making body, Mr. Hom was prevented from participating in making the presentation. Bodrero would not allow Mr. Hom to make the presentation. R. 505.

35. Bodrero claims that he was unaware of Mr. Hom's concerns regarding the legality of the RFP process and that he was also unaware that Mr. Hom had tried to resign from the RFP committee. R. 593.

36. Prior to the RFP process coming to a close, Mr. Hom went to Hudachko to take advantage of their "gentlemen's agreement" regarding the compensatory leave time. Because of the stress and pressure that had been put onto Mr. Hom as a result of being overworked, Mr. Hom felt like he was alone and had to finally stand up and do something for himself. R. 507, 508. The relationship between Mr. Hom and Hudachko began to deteriorate. R. 531-536. At this point, Mr. Hom filed a grievance to collect all of his overtime hours. R. 507, 508, 531-536.

37. Hudachko was not pleased that Mr. Hom had filed a grievance to collect his unpaid overtime. This grievance contributed to the decrease in communication between Mr. Hom and Hudachko. R.531-536. Hudachko threatened Mr. Hom's employment because of this grievance. R.508.

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