1997

Michael W. Hom v. Utah State Department of Public Safety, a governmental agency; Cherie Ertel; Douglas Bodrero; A Roland Squire; Arthur Hudachko; Bart Blackstock; John Does : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The Utah State Personnel Management Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 67-19-1 to 29 (1986) ("the Personnel Act")², governs the employment of most state career service employees, including Hom.

²This brief cites to the version of the Personnel Act in effect at the time Hom's employment was terminated in March 1990, unless otherwise stated. The Personnel Act has been amended since then and now extends to section 67-19-40. This brief will note amendments to the relevant provisions when the provisions are first cited.

In asserting a breach of contract claim against the Department, Hom relies exclusively on the Personnel Act and the administrative rules promulgated under the Personnel Act. Specifically, Hom relies on section 67-19-18 of the Personnel Act, which states:

Dismissals or demotions of career service employees shall only be to advance the good of the public interest, or for such just causes as inefficiency, incompetency, failure to maintain skills or adequate performance levels, insubordination, disloyalty to the orders of a superior, misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance in office. There shall be no dismissals for reasons of race, sex, age, physical handicap, national origin, religion, political affiliation, or other non-merit factor including the exercise of rights under this chapter.

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-18(1) (1986) (1991 & 1995 amendments made stylistic changes and substituted "service" for "interest").

Hom's reliance on the Personnel Act, and the corresponding administrative rules, to define his rights as a state employee establishes the fundamentally statutory nature of his claim against the Department. Indeed, Hom's contractual theory is inconsistent with the well-established principle that "the performance of a duty imposed by law is insufficient consideration to support a contract." Prows v. State, 822 P.2d 764, 768 (Utah 1991) (holding buyers of savings and loan corporation failed to state a claim for breach of contract as a matter of law in alleging that state breached its promise to guarantee deposits in accordance with existing statutory

obligation).

In a case similar to this one, the Kansas Supreme Court recognized the essentially statutory nature of a civil servant's claim for wrongful termination.³ In Wright v. Kansas Water Office, 881 P.2d 567 (Kan. 1994), a former state hydrologist alleged that the state water department had breached a written employment contract in terminating his employment. Despite its acknowledgment that the hydrologist had been wrongfully terminated, the Wright court reversed the trial court's decision granting back pay, reinstatement and other remedies. The court determined that the hydrologist's claim was barred because the claim was subject to the three-year statute of limitations for statutory claims, rather than the five-year period for claims for breach of a written contract. Id. at 573. The court held:

We hold that the employment relationship between the State and Wright did not arise out of a written contract. Rather, the relationship is fixed by statute. The [Kansas Civil Service Act] controls a classified civil service employee's employment status.

³Hom correctly notes that this is a case of first impression in Utah. Indeed, few cases directly on point exist in any jurisdiction. One reason for this dearth is the exhaustion of remedies requirement applicable to most wrongful termination cases by civil servants. Indeed, Hom's failure to pursue his administrative remedies in this case is an alternative ground for affirmance of the trial court's order dismissing Hom's state law claims. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 67-19a-101 to -408 (1996) (enacted by L. 1989, ch. 191, §§ 6-21 and establishing Career Service Review Board), and Dep't of Social Servs. v. Higgs, 656 P.2d 998, 1001 (Utah 1982) (upholding dismissal of state's appeal from administrative order sustaining employee grievances because state had failed to exhaust administrative procedures).

The KCSA affords the right of continued employment in the absence of a legitimate cause for termination. The employment relationship of a classified employee to the State is one of statutory status.

Id. at 571.

In analyzing whether the hydrologist's claim was contractual or statutory, the Wright court reviewed the state civil service act, which created a department of personnel management and authorized the director to make rules and regulations governing all aspects of state employment. Id. at 572. The court noted that although the hydrologist had identified a few personnel records as the alleged contract, "the focus of his claim is that as a classified civil service employee, he held a right not to be terminated without a hearing and without good cause." Id. at 573. Because the hydrologist "would not have had these rights but for the [civil service act]," the court held that his claim was statutory, rather than contractual.

Like the civil service statute in Wright, the Personnel Act establishes a department of personnel management (the Utah State Division of Personnel Management, now the Department of Human Resource Management), and creates a comprehensive personnel management system that governs virtually every aspect of employment for most state employees. Like the hydrologist in Wright, Hom posits only the existence of a written, rather than an oral contract, and the focus of his wrongful termination claim is the just cause provision of the civil service statute.

Indeed, Hom is unable to identify any writing other than the Personnel Act and the corresponding administrative rules to support his contract theory.⁴ Accordingly, like the hydrologist's claim in Wright, Hom's wrongful termination claim is statutory, rather than contractual.

Moreover, wrongful termination actions under the Personnel Act involve issues of fundamental legislative concern. Like other civil service systems, the Personnel Act advances the important public policy that "comparative merit or achievement govern the selection and advancement of employees in Utah state government and that employees be rewarded for performance in a manner that will encourage excellence and strengthen the system" and of providing

for equal employment opportunity by ensuring that all personnel actions including hire, tenure or term, and condition or privilege of employment be based on the ability to perform the duties and responsibilities assigned to a particular position without regard to age, race, creed or religion, color, handicap, sex, national origin, ancestry or political affiliation.

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-2 (3) & (4) (1986) (repealed effective May 1, 1995). See also 15A Am. Jur. 2d Civil Service § 1 (1976)

⁴Although one might argue that an agency employing a career service employee may enter into a contract with the employee that imposes obligations in addition to those imposed by Personnel Act and corresponding administrative rules (so long as the contractual obligations are consistent with the statutory duties), that is not the case here. In advancing his breach of contract claim against the Department, Hom relies solely on the theory that the Personnel Act and the corresponding administrative rules themselves formed a written contract.

(discussing legislative purpose of civil service systems and stating that a primary goal is to enable governments "to render more efficient services to the public by enabling them to obtain efficient public servants"). The Personnel Act also charges the director to:

develop and administer a program of personnel management which will: (a) aid in the efficient execution of public policy; (b) foster careers in public service for qualified employees; and (c) render assistance to state agencies in performing their missions

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-6(1) (1986).

Rather than merely "flesh[ing] out" or "adding a layer of protection" to a fundamentally contractual relationship, the Personnel Act comprehensively defines the basic nature, terms and conditions of career service employment with the state. In so doing, it advances important public policy as determined by the legislature. Therefore, issues concerning the employment rights of a career service employee such as Hom are properly resolved under the principles of statutory interpretation, rather than contract law.⁵

Furthermore, as noted by the Wright court, the conclusion that a civil servant's wrongful termination claim is statutory

⁵Hom incorrectly asserts that before the enactment of the Personnel Act, the relationship between the state and its employees was contractual. The Personnel Act was preceded by the Merit Systems Act, Utah Code Ann. § 67-13-1 to -15, which was repealed in 1979 when the Personnel Act was enacted.

rather than contractual is consistent with the holdings of courts in other jurisdictions, which "have reasoned that the terms and conditions of employment in the civil service are not determined by a written contract between the State and the employee. Rather the statutes and regulations of the appropriate agency or agencies control the relationship." Id. at 571.⁶ For example, in Personnel Division of the Executive Department v. St. Clair, 498 P.2d 809 (Ore. Ct. App. 1972), the court rejected the claim of several state employees that a statutory amendment that lengthened the time before a required salary review violated the state constitutional provision against impairment of contracts. The court stated,

Respondents' arguments concerning 'vested contractual rights' and 'impairment of the obligation of contracts,' in which they endeavor to apply the general law of contracts to the present case, are based on the erroneous assumption that the employment relationship between the state of Oregon and its civil service employees [sic] arises out of, or results in, a contract between the parties. The terms and conditions of civil service employment are fixed by statute and the regulations of the state personnel agency, and not by "contract" between the public employer and the individual employee.

Id. at 811. See also Miller v. State of California, 557 P.2d

⁶As the Wright court noted, the issue of whether a state employee's wrongful termination claim is statutory or contractual does not often arise in the context of a statute of limitations question because such claims are ordinarily subject to an exhaustion of remedies requirement. 881 P.2d at 573. As previously noted, Hom's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies with the CSRB is an alternative ground for affirming the decision below. See note 3 above.

970, 973-76 (Cal. 1977) (holding reduction of mandatory retirement age for state employees did not impair vested contractual rights, stating, "it is well settled in California that public employment is not held by contract but by statute"); Bowman v. Maine State Employees Appeals Board, 408 A.2d 688, 689-92 (Me. 1979) (rejecting claim of former state hospital doctor that statutory declassification of his civil service position violated contract clause of state and federal constitutions); Wage Appeal of Montana State Highway Patrol Officers v. Board of Personnel, 676 P.2d 194, 199 (Mont. 1984) (rejecting claim that new state pay plan decreasing salaries for highway patrol officers impaired the officers' contractual rights, recognizing that "when the Legislature enacts a statute fixing certain terms and conditions of public employment, such as salaries and compensation, it is presumed that the statute does not create contractual rights, but is intended merely to declare a policy to be pursued until the Legislature declares otherwise"); Smith v. City of Newark, 320 A.2d 212, 219 (N.J. Sup. Ct. Law Div. 1974), reversed on other grounds 344 A.2d 782, 784 (N.J. Sup. Ct. App. Div. 1975) (rejecting impairment of contracts claim on ground that "the terms and conditions of public service in office or employment rest in legislative policy rather than contractual obligation, and hence may be changed except of course insofar as the State Constitution specifically provides otherwise

(citations omitted)''"); Washington Federation of State Employees v. State of Washington, 682 P.2d 869, 872 (Wash. 1984) (rejecting impairment of contracts claim, holding terms and conditions of public employment are basically controlled by statute, not by contract). As the above courts recognize, claims of wrongful treatment of government employees subject to civil service statutes invoke strong public policy considerations and are fundamentally statutory, rather than contractual.

The conclusion that such claims are properly characterized as statutory is further bolstered by the case law interpreting the statute of limitations for statutory claims. Utah Code section 78-12-26(4) establishes a three-year limitations period for "an action for a liability created by the statutes of this state." See Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-26(4) (1996) (1996 amendment made stylistic changes). Interpreting similar provisions, courts have generally held that limitations periods for statutory claims apply where the statute creates new substantive rights that would not have existed without the enactment of the statute. See Wright v. Kansas Water Office, 881 P.2d 567, 572 (Kan. 1994); see also Kelly v. Primeline Advisory, Inc., 889 P.2d 130, 135 (Kan. 1995) (holding state securities fraud statute created new substantive rights and liabilities that did not exist under a common law fraud action and was therefore subject to the

limitations period for liabilities created by statute, rather than the limitations period for common law fraud).

Without the provisions of the Personnel Act, career service employees would be considered common law "at-will" employees, who generally may be fired for any reason, or for no reason at all. See Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1044 (Utah 1989) (recognizing rebuttable presumption that employment having no specified duration may be terminated without just cause). Accordingly, the Personnel Act is the source of the substantive right on which Hom sues, and that right would not exist but for the Personnel Act. The just cause requirement which Hom seeks to enforce was created solely by statute and would not exist at all absent the statute. Therefore, Hom's claim is statutory, rather than contractual in nature.

B. Cases Involving Governmental Employees Who Are Exempt from the Civil Service Statutes, or Vested Rights Are Inapposite to Hom's Wrongful Termination Claim

None of the cases cited by Hom support the application of contract law to his wrongful termination claim. The Utah Supreme Court's decision in Piacitelli v. Southern Utah State College, 636 P.2d 1063 (Utah 1981) is inapplicable because it addressed the wrongful termination claim of an exempt college employee rather than a state career service employee such as Hom. In Piacitelli, the court upheld the trial court's determination that a college had substantially complied with the procedures required

by its personnel manual in declining to renew the contract of a non-tenure track counselor. The court noted the trial court's decision that the personnel manual governing the counselor's employment "comports with the numerous holdings that an educational institution may undertake a contractual obligation to observe particular termination formalities by adopting procedures or by promulgating rules and regulations governing the employment relationship." Id. at 1066. Therefore, the court stated that in addressing whether the college had substantially complied with the manual, "we are construing a contract, not declaring statutory or constitutional rights." Id.

The application of contract principles in Piacitelli fails to support Hom's contract theory because all state college employees are expressly exempt from the provisions of the Personnel Act. Section 67-19-15 of the Personnel Act states: "[T]he following positions shall be exempt from the career service provisions of this chapter: . . . officers, faculty, and other employees of state universities and other state institutions of higher education." Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-15(g) (1986). Accordingly, the counselor in Piacitelli relied on the college's personnel manual, rather than the provisions of the Personnel Act on which Hom relies, to define his employment rights.

Nor does the decision in Thurston v. Box Elder County, 892

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